
Legal & Governance Reform
DavidDavid  WilcockWilcock
HeadHead  ofof  LegalLegal  andand  GovernanceGovernance  ReformReform

Governance  & Committee Services
Floor 2, Number One Riverside, Smith Street,
Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Phone: 01706 647474
Website: www.rochdale.gov.uk

To:  All Members of the Rochdale Township 
Planning Sub Committee

Enquiries to: Michael Garraway
Telephone: 01706 924716
Date: Monday, 15 February 2016

Dear Councillor

Rochdale Township Planning Sub Committee

You are requested to attend the meeting of the Rochdale Township Planning Sub 
Committee to be held in Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, Number One 
Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU on Tuesday, 23rd February 2016 
commencing at 6.15 pm.

The agenda and supporting papers are attached. 

Please note that a site visit has been arranged for Members of the Sub-
Committee as follows:-
3.40pm Meet at back entrance of Number One Riverside
4:00pm Top O The Croft Farm (15/01278/FUL)

If you require advice on any agenda item involving a possible Declaration of 
Interest which could affect your right to speak and/or vote, please refer to the 
Code of Conduct or contact the Monitoring Officer or Deputies or staff in the 
Governance and Committee Services Team at least 24 hours in advance of the 
meeting. 

Yours Faithfully

David Wilcock
Head of Legal and Governance Reform

Rochdale Township Planning Sub Committee Membership 2015/16
Councillor Iftikhar Ahmed
Councillor Shakil Ahmed
Councillor Lynne Brosnan
Councillor Ian Duckworth
Councillor James Gartside
Councillor Terry Linden
Councillor Aasim Rashid
Councillor Billy Sheerin
Councillor Shah Wazir



Rochdale Borough Council

ROCHDALE TOWNSHIP PLANNING SUB COMMITTEE

Tuesday, 23rd February 2016 at 6.15 pm

Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, Number One Riverside, 
Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU

A G E N D A

Apologies for Absence
1.  Declarations of Interest 1 - 3

Members must indicate at this stage any items on the agenda in which 
they must declare an interest.  Members must verbally give notice of 
their interest at the meeting and complete the form attached with this 
agenda.  

Members are also advised to take advice with regard to any matter 
where there is potential bias or predetermination in any business to be 
considered at the meeting and whether they should take part in 
decision making at the meeting.

Members are reminded that, in accordance with the Localism Act 2011 
and the Council's adopted Code of Conduct, they must declare the 
nature of any discloseable pecuniary interest; personal interest and/or 
prejudicial interest required of them and, in the case of any discloseable 
pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest, withdraw from the meeting 
during consideration of the item, unless permitted otherwise within the 
Code of Conduct.

2.  Minutes 4 - 6

To consider the minutes of the meetings of the Rochdale Township 
Planning Sub-Committee held on 26th January 2016.

3.  Submitted Planning Applications 7 - 25

4.  Planning Appeals 

i) Notification has been received that the following appeals have been lodged

 15/0365/EUD – 262 Ashfield Road – Appeal against enforcement notice 
(Milkstone and Deeplish Ward)

ii)   Notification has been received that the following appeals have been dismissed

 None

ii) Notification has been received that the following appeals have
been allowed

 None





DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CODE OF CONDUCT ADOPTED BY THE COUNCIL ON 25TH JULY 2012, MEMBERS ARE REQUIRED TO DECLARE DISCLOSABLE 
PECUNIARY INTERESTS, PERSONAL INTERESTS AND PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS (LISTED ON THEIR REGISTER OF INTERESTS).

MEMBERS SHOULD REFER TO THE CODE OF CONDUCT AND/OR THE MONITORING OFFICER AND/OR THEIR DECLARATION FOR FURTHER GUIDANCE

MEETING AND DATE

…………………………….

Agenda item

Indicate either
 Discloseable Pecuniary Interest OR
 Personal Interest OR
 Personal and Prejudicial interest

Nature of Interest

Signed…………………………………………………………………………………………        Please print name…………………………………………………………………………………………..

IF A MEMBER HAS A DISCLOSEABLE PECUNIARY INTEREST THAT HAS NOT BEEN INCLUDED ON THEIR REGISTER SUBMISSION, THEY ARE REQUIRED BY 
LAW TO UPDATE THEIR REGISTER ENTRY WITHIN 28 DAYS.  FAILURE TO PROVIDE PROPER NOTIFICATION IS A CRIMINAL OFFENCE.

THIS FORM, INCLUDING ‘NIL’ ENTRIES, MUST BE GIVEN TO THE GOVERNANCE AND COMMITTEE OFFICER NO LATER THAN AT THE END OF THE MEETING



Summary of discloseable pecuniary interests, personal interests and prejudicial interests.

Disclosable pecuniary interests
A ‘disclosable pecuniary interest’ is an interest of yourself, or of your partner if you are aware of your 
partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in the table below.  "Partner" means a spouse or civil 
partner, or a person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or a person with whom you are 
living as if you are civil partners.

Subject Description
Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit 
or gain

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the 
Council) made or provided within the 12 month period prior to notification 
of the interest in respect of any expenses incurred by you in carrying out 
duties as a member, or towards your election expenses.  

Contracts Any contract made between you or your partner (or a body in which you or 
your partner has a beneficial interest) and the Council - 
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
executed: and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Rochdale 
Metropolitan Borough Council.

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the 
Borough for a month or longer.

Corporate Tenancies Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) - 
(a) the landlord is the Council: and
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial 
interest.

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where -
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the 
area of the Borough; and
(b) either –
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner 
has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that class.

Personal Interests
You have a personal interest in any business of the authority where it relates to or is likely to affect - 
(a) any body of which you are in a position of general control or management and to which you are 

appointed or nominated by your authority;
(b)  any body -

(i) exercising functions of a public nature;
(ii) directed to charitable purposes; or
(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy 

(including any political party or trade union), 
of which you are in a position of general control or management;
(c) the interests of any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated 

value of at least £25.

Prejudicial Interests
Where you have a personal interest you also have a prejudicial interest in that business where the 
interest is one which a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably 
regard as so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest and where 
that business -
(a) Affects your financial position or the financial position of a person or body described above; or
 (b) Relates to the determining of any approval, consent, licence, permission or registration in relation 

to you or any person or body described above.

MEMBERS ARE ADVISED TO REFER TO THE FULL DESCRIPTIONS CONTAINED IN THE
COUNCIL’S CODE OF CONDUCT ADOPTED ON 25TH JULY 2012.



ROCHDALE TOWNSHIP PLANNING SUB COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF MEETING
Tuesday, 26th January 2016

PRESENT:  Councillor Brosnan (in the Chair); Councillors Iftikhar Ahmed, 
Shakil Ahmed, Duckworth, James Gartside, Linden, Rashid, Sheerin and Wazir.

OFFICERS:  R Coley (Economy Directorate) and S Shahid (Resources Directorate). 

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE:   Councillor O’Neill, Councillor Zaman and approximately 
22 members of the public.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE:  There were no apologies for absence.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
8 There were no declarations of interest.

MINUTES
9 DECIDED – That the minutes of the meetings of Rochdale Township 
Planning Sub-Committee held on 17th November 2015 and 8th December 2015, 
be approved as a correct record.

SINGLE STOREY REAR EXTENSION AT 44 MOSS AVENUE, ROCHDALE, OL16 
4AA.
10 The Director of Economy presented a report which detailed a planning 
application (number 15/01135/HOUS) which was for a single storey rear extension at 
44 Moss Avenue, Rochdale, OL16 4AA. 

In introducing the application the Planning Officer referred to a site visit undertaken 
by Members of the Sub-Committee.

The Sub-Committee considered the views of Ms H Bowder who addressed the Sub-
Committee on behalf of the applicant, objecting to the application. 

The Sub-Committee considered the views of Mr M Zohaib, an agent for the applicant, 
who addressed the Sub-Committee on behalf of the applicant. 

DECIDED – That the application for planning permission be refused. 

FIRST FLOOR EXTENSION TO CREATE A TWO STOREY DWELLING AND NEW 
FRONT AND REAR EXTENSIONS AT 26 MARIGOLD STREET, ROCHDALE, 
OL11 1RJ.
11 The Director of Economy presented a report which detailed a planning 
application (number 15/01221/HOUS) which was for a first floor extension to create a 
two storey dwelling and new front and rear extensions at 26 Marigold Street, 
Rochdale, OL11 1RJ. 

There were no objectors present at the Sub-Committee meeting. 

The Sub-Committee considered the views of Mr Zohaib who addressed the Sub-
Committee on behalf of the applicant. 



DECIDED – The applicant withdrew the planning application from consideration 
before a resolution was made.  

APPLICATION FOR WORKS TO THE TREES WITHIN TREE PRESERVATION 
ORDER T193, GROUP A2, FOR THE FELLING OF FOUR PINE TREES, BRANCH 
REMOVAL OF TWO  PINE TREES AND ONE CROWN THINNING OF UP TO 20% 
OF A BEECH TREE AT 7 HILKIRK DRIVE, ROCHDALE, OL12 7HD.
12 The Director of Economy presented a report which detailed a planning 
application (number 15/01227/WTTPO) which was for works to trees within Tree 
Preservation Order T193, Group A2, for the felling of four Pine Trees, branch 
removal of two Pine Trees and one crown thinning of up to 20% of a Beech tree at 7 
Hillkirk Drive, Rochdale, OL12 7HD. 

DECIDED – That authorisation for works to trees within Tree Preservation 
Order T193, Group A2, for the felling of four Pine trees, branch removal of two 
Pine trees and one crown thinning of up to 20% of a Beech tree be approved, 
subject to the following conditions updatd from the submitted report:-

No more than 20% of the canopy shall be removed from the Beech tree 
identified on the plan as T2b.  

Only the two individual branches identified with a red arrow on Photograph A 
appended to this decision notice shall be removed from the Pine trees labelled 
T5a and T6a on Photograph A. 

NB: In accordance with Council procedure rules, Councillor Brosnan requested her 
vote against the decision be recorded. 

TWO STOREY REAR EXTENSION, FRONT DORMER EXTENSION AND A 
FRONT PORCH (PART RETROSPECTIVE) AT 83 HEIGHTS AVENUE, 
ROCHDALE, OL12 6JH.
13 The Director of Economy presented a report which detailed a planning 
application (number 15/01305/HOUS) which was for a two storey rear extension, 
front dormer extension and a front porch (part retrospective) at 83 Heights Avenue, 
Rochdale, OL12 6JH. 

The Sub- Committee considered the views of Mrs H Andrews who addressed the 
Sub-Committee in objection to the application. 

The Sub-Committee considered the views of the applicant, Mr A Hussain who 
addressed the Sub-Committee in relation to the application.

DECIDED – That the application for planning permission be refused. 

FIRST FLOOR, SIDE AND REAR EXTENSION (RE-SUBMISSION 15/00832/FUL) 
AT HEALEY SURGERY, WHITWORTH ROAD, ROCHDALE, OL12 0SN.
14 The Director of Environment presented a report which detailed a planning a 
planning application (number 15/01362/FUL) which was for a first floor side and rear 
extension (re-submission 1500832/FUL) at Healey Surgery, Whitworth Road, 
Rochdale, OL12 0SN. 

The Sub-Committee considered the views of Ms E Gillatt who addressed the Sub-
Committee in objection to the application. 



The Sub-Committee considered the views of P Clark who addressed the Sub-
Committee on behalf of the applicant. 

The Sub-Committee also considered the views of Healey Ward Member, Councillor 
O’Neill who addressed the Sub-Committee in objection to the application. 

DECIDED – That the application for planning permission be approved, subject 
to the conditions detailed in the submitted report. 

SINGLE STOREY FRONT EXTENSION, FIRST FLOOR REAR EXTENSION AND A 
LOFT CONVERSION WITH ROOF LIGHTS (RE-SUBMISSION) AT 77 TWEEDALE 
STREET, ROCHDALE, OL11 3TZ.
15 The Director of Economy presented a report which detailed a planning 
application (number 15/01390/HOUS) for a single storey front extension, first floor 
rear extension and a loft conversion with roof lights (re-submission) at 77 Tweedale 
Street, Rochdale, OL11 3TZ. 

The Sub-Committee considered the views of Mr Zohaib who addressed the Sub-
Committee on behalf of the applicant in relation to the application. 

DECIDED – That the application be referred to the Planning and Licensing 
Committee under the Council’s Scheme of Delegation and Planning and 
Licensing Committee be advised that this Sub-Committee was minded to grant 
planning permission. 

NB: In accordance with Council procedure rules, Councillor Linden requested his 
vote against the decision be recorded. 

APPLICATION TO REMOVE ONE OAK TREE, SUBJECT TO TREE 
PRESERVATION ORDER NUMBER 36 ON THE LAND AT THE REAR OF 2 
MARLAND OLD ROAD, ROCHDALE, OL11 4QY.
16 The Director of Economy presented a report which detailed a planning 
application (number 15/01429/WTTPO) to remove one Oak tree, subject to Tree 
Preservation Order Number 36 on the Land at the rear of 2 Marland Old Road, 
Rochdale, OL11 4QY.

There were no objectors present at the Sub-Committee meeting. 

The applicant was not present to make representations in relation to the application 
at the Sub-Committee meeting. 

DECIDED – That authorisation to remove one Oak tree, subject to Tree 
Preservation Order Number 36 on the Land at the rear of 2 Marland Old Road, 
Rochdale, OL11 4QY, be approved subject to the conditions detailed in the 
submitted report.  

NB: In accordance with Council procedure rules, Councillor Brosnan requested her 
vote against the decision be recorded. 

PLANNING APPEALS.
17 The Director of Economy presented a report which detailed current planning 
appeals in the Township.

DECIDED – That the report be noted. 



Subject: Submitted Planning Applications Status:  For Publication

Report to:   Rochdale Township Planning 
Committee

Date:         23rd February 2016 ^DS,DATEACTCOM.DCAPPL,21;   

Report of: Director of Economy and Environment

Author: See individual agenda reports

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 

1.1 To provide recommendations to the Committee on planning applications or related 
consents submitted to the Council and requiring the consideration and/or determination 
of the Committee in accordance with the Council’s approved Scheme of Delegation.

1.2 To provide information on any other planning or development related matters which 
may affect the work of the Committee.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 Recommendations in respect of individual planning applications are as detailed in the 
following papers.

3. STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS

3.1 The submitted applications on this agenda are to be determined in accordance with the 
provisions of relevant legislation, including the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Planning and 
Compensation Act 1991, Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, Planning Act 
2008, Localism Act 2011 and the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 together with any Directions and 
Regulations which support that legislation.  

3.2 Planning law requires that applications be determined in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  Where relevant, 
any such material considerations will be referred to in the report.

    The Development Plan

3.3 All planning applications referred to in this report have been assessed against the 
relevant policies and proposals of the development plan for the Borough (currently the 
adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan 2006) and any Supplementary Planning 
Documents or Guidance adopted by the Council.  

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)



3.4 In addition, in assessing the submitted planning applications, there is a requirement to 
have regard to relevant national policies as set out within the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) the policies of which are a material consideration.  Where relevant, 
the provisions of the NPPF and any other relevant national guidance will be referred to 
in the report.

4. RISK ASSESSMENT IMPLICATIONS 

.1 The Council has adopted a Code of Conduct for Members and Officers dealing with 
Planning Matters.  Members and Officers are required to have full regard to the Code 
in discharging their responsibilities and duties in relation to planning matters on behalf 
of the Council.  The Code seeks to ensure that all decision making is governed by an 
open and transparent process and represents a standard against which the conduct of 
Officers and Member sitting on the Committee will be judged.  

.2 A Declaration of Member Interests Register is taken prior to the commencement of the 
Committee meeting.  Advice on whether any Member sitting on the Committee ought to 
declare any interest on any item on the submitted agenda should be obtained from the 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services or the Head of Planning.  

.3 The Council’s Standards Committee will monitor the operation of this Code of Conduct.   

5. EQUALITIES IMPACTS

5.1 The above Acts require Local Planning Authorities to consider planning applications on 
their individual merits having regard to the development plan and other material 
planning considerations.

5.2 The Equality Act 2010 protects people from discrimination on the basis of certain 
characteristics which are known as protected characteristics.  These protected 
characteristics are Age, Disability, Gender Reassignment, Marriage or Civil 
Partnership, Pregnancy and Maternity, Race, Religion or Belief, Sex (Gender), Sexual 
Orientation, socio-economic status and Carer.

5.3 In applying the Equality Act 2010, the Council is required to consider the effects of its 
decisions on different groups protected from discrimination, including a duty to make 
reasonable adjustments.  In taking account of all material planning considerations, 
including Council policy as set out in the Unitary Development Plan and the National 
Planning Policy Framework, the Director (Economy and Environment) has concluded 
all opportunities to promote equality through the planning process have been taken, or 
where adjustments cannot be made, these are justified on the basis of the planning 
merits of the development proposal.  

5.4 The Rochdale and District Disabled Access Working Group may comment on relevant 
planning applications. Where comments are received, these will be included within the 
reported to Committee.  Consideration is given in designing access when dealing with 
the planning applications. Where applicable, any issues relating to these matters or 
other equal opportunity matters will be referred to in individual planning application 
reports.

6.      Human Rights Act 1998 considerations

6.1   The submitted applications need to be considered against the provisions of the Human 
Rights Act 1998.  Under Article 6, the applications (and those third parties, including 
local residents, who have made representations) have the right to a fair hearing and to 
this end the Committee must give full consideration to their comments.



6.2 Article 8 and Protocol 1 Article 1 confer(s) a right of respect or a person’s home, other 
land and business assets.  In taking account of all material considerations, including 
Council policy as set out in the Unitary Development Plan, the Director (Economy and 
Environment) has concluded that some rights conferred by these Articles on the 
applicant(s)/objectors/residents and other occupiers and owners of nearby land that 
might be affected may be interfered with but that that interference is in accordance with 
the law and justified by being in the public interest and on the basis of the planning 
merits of the development proposal.  He believes that any restriction on these rights 
posed by approval of the application is proportionate to the wider benefits of approval 
and that such a decision falls within the margin of discretion afforded to the Council 
under the Town and Country Planning Acts.



Application Number: 15/01278/FUL    Ward: Norden      

Proposal: Installation of 8 floodlights on four 8m poles (one pole to each of the four 
corners of the manege) - retrospective (resubmission 15/00745/FUL)

Site Address: Top O'the Croft Farm  Woodhouse Lane Rochdale Rochdale OL12 7TB

Applicant: Ms Margret Shanks
                  

RECOMMENDATION: Refuse



DELEGATION SCHEME

Councillor James Gartside has called in the application for determination by the Rochdale 
Township Planning Sub Committee in order that the applicant may explain to Committee the 
reasons for the addition of the lights to the manège. The Committee has delegated authority to 
refuse the application. Should the Committee be minded to grant planning permission, the 
application would be referred to the planning and Licensing Committee for determination as the 
proposal represents a departure from the development plan. 

SITE

The application relates to Top O’ the Croft Farm, accessed from a private driveway which 
connects to Woodhouse Lane in Norden, Rochdale. The farm lies in an elevated position 
looking south across the valley towards Rochdale. It is surrounded by agricultural pasture 
land, with a steep hillside to the east and Greenbooth Reservoir to the west. There are no 
immediate residential neighbouring properties, with the nearest neighbouring buildings being 
at Woodhouse Fold Farm, approximately 120m to the south west. However, due to the 
elevated position on the hillside, the farm sits above properties located on Nordale Park 
(nearest dwelling being 165m away) and Broad Acre (nearest property approximately 290m 
away).  

The site has been subject to wholescale regeneration within the last few years under planning 
application 13/00342/FUL, which permitted the renovation of the farmhouse along with the 
replacement of the existing manège. That permission has been implemented and this 
application relates to the manège, which stands to the east of the stable block and is of a 
recognised standard size, being 40m by 20m, and is enclosed by a 1.2m high timber fence. 
The applicant states that the site is primarily used by local horse owners who stable their 
horses at the farm stables and exercise them within the manège. 

PROPOSAL

The application seeks retrospective permission to regularise a set of 8 floodlights which have 
been installed on four 8m high poles (one pole to each corner of the manège). Each light is 
400W with a luminous flux of 36,000 lm, enclosed in a black casing and are sited at the top of 
the aluminium support poles. 
 
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

National Guidance

National Planning Policy Framework 

The Department for Communities and Local Government published the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) on 27 March 2012.  The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning 
policies for England and how these are expected to be applied.  

National Planning Policy Guidance

The government published its National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014. This is 
intended to complement the National Planning Policy Framework and to provide a single 
resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and streamlining the material. Almost all 
previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been cancelled. Specific reference will be 
made to the NPPG or other national advice in the Analysis section of the report, where 
appropriate.

Unitary Development Plan (UDP):



G/D/2 Green Belt
D/4 Control of Development in Green Belt - General

G/BE/1 Design Quality
BE/2 Design Criteria for New Development

G/EM/1 Environmental Protection and Pollution Control
EM/2 Pollution

G/NE/5 Landscape and Woodlands
NE/6 Landscape Protection and Enhancement

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

13/00342/FUL Renovation of existing farmhouse to include a porch extension and timber 
deck terrace. Change of use and conversion of barn to provide a family 
dwelling, to include removal of existing motor vehicle workshop and out 
building to be replaced with a single storey rear extension, a two storey 
side/rear extension and a porch. Removal of existing all weather exercise 
arena and formation of a new all-weather exercise arena on land to the west 
of the stables. Part change of use (retrospective) of existing barn/hay store 
for the stabling of horses – Granted subject to conditions

15/00745/FUL Installation of 8 floodlights on four 8m poles (one pole to each of the four 
corners of the manège) – retrospective - Withdrawn

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Greater Manchester Ecology Unit - Flood lighting can affect the behaviour of some bat species 
as they are nocturnal animals. In this case as no bat activity survey has been submitted it is 
difficult to judge how intrusive the flood lighting would be to the local bat population. However, 
we would recommend that their use be restricted to the hours of 3pm to 7.30pm during the 
months of November to February inclusive to avoid the times when bats are most active.

Environmental Health - No objection; the lights may be visible but the supporting information 
would suggest they would not be causing light spill or nuisance. Recommend that should 
permission be granted a condition be attached to restrict the use of the lighting to Monday to 
Friday between the hours of 1500 to 1930.

REPRESENTATIONS

Letters of notification were sent to surrounding properties and a notice positioned close to the 
site. In response to the publicity 24 letters of objection have been received from nearby 
residents. Eleven of these objections contained a standard pro-forma letter which is contained 
below:

‘I wish to OBJECT to the above planning application. I object on the grounds that the 
proposal is in conflict with both national and local planning.

The site is located within the green belt and at a national level the framework sets out 
development which falls to be considered appropriate in such locations. The erection of 
lighting does not fall within the listed exceptions and as such the lighting is an 
inappropriate development which is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should 
not be approved except in very special circumstances. 



The Green Belt policy carries a general presumption against inappropriate 
development, and as a neighbour of this site I feel strongly that this unlawful 
development should be resisted.

The application includes the retention of eight x 8 metre high lighting columns around 
the riding arena. The green belt policies confirm that floodlighting of sand paddocks 
and yards is generally inappropriate in the green belt or near to neighbouring residents. 

No compelling justification or very special circumstances have been provided in 
respect of the need for the proposed lighting columns. 

I urge you to refuse this application based on the above facts.’

Nine of the objections again contained a second standard pro-forma letter:

‘This resubmission is no different to the original retrospective submission 
(15/00745/FUL) withdrawn earlier this month. Therefore I object on the grounds that 
the proposal is still in conflict with both national and local planning policy for the Green 
Belt.

The fundamental aim of Green Belt is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land 
permanently open and its most important attribute is its openness. The primary 
objection of Green Belt policies is to strictly control development and to apply a general 
presumption against built development (including commercial floodlights) except that 
which falls within the special categories so as not to prejudice the Green Belt’s 
purposes and objectives.

The elevated siting, scale and design of these high intensity floodlights are 
unacceptable and prejudicial to the Green Belt and Dark Skies policy, not only in terms 
of affecting the otherwise openness of the Green Belt, but in the issue of neighbour 
amenity and light pollution. The floodlights are extremely bright and unsightly, causing 
demonstrable harm to the residential area. The applicant should be made to remove 
these lights forthwith.

I urge you to refuse this application based on the above facts.’

The remaining four objections are summarised below:

 The lux level produced by the lights will illuminate the two bedrooms situated at the 
rear of 57 Nordale Park 

 Surprised and disappointed that this is a retrospective application, a prior planning 
application would have allowed residents an opportunity to comment

 Site is well established green belt land for farming and related activities – adding 
floodlights to the existing equestrian facilities creates a seven day a week 
commercial facility 

 Light pollution caused by floodlighting not acceptable – when the lights are on there 
is a white glow in the sky and across the field into people’s houses

 The proposal conflicts with both national and local planning policy for the Green 
Belt – conflicting with statements in the RMBC Biodiversity and Development SPD 
and would impact on the dark sky zone in Norden

 The lights installed at high intensity commercial lighting set on 8m poles which are 
already in an elevated position above adjacent property with a total luminous flux of 
288,000 lm and as such will lead to light spill and pollution onto the neighbouring 
properties



 The lighting is so intense it lights up the hillside to the east of the manège and can 
be easily seen from as far away as the Norden Arms on Edenfield Road

 There is no natural barrier in the form of trees to stop two of the lights shining down 
onto properties on Broad Acre

 Horses have been kept at the stables for several years and up to now have never 
required lighting in the afternoon/evening for exercising

ANALYSIS

Principle of Development and Impact on the Green Belt

Paragraph 79 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that the Government 
attaches great importance to Green Belts. The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to 
prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open; the essential characteristics of 
Green Belts are their openness and their permanence. 

It is stated in paragraphs 87 and 88 of the NPPF that, as with previous Green Belt policy, 
inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should not be 
approved except in very special circumstances. When considering any planning application, 
Local Planning Authorities should ensure that substantial weight is given to any harm to the 
Green Belt. ‘Very special circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green 
Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other 
considerations.

Policy D/4 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan states that within the Green Belt 
approval will not be given, except in very special circumstances, for the erection of new 
building unless it is for the following purposes:

a. agriculture and forestry;
b. essential facilities for outdoor sport and outdoor recreation, for cemeteries and other 

uses which preserve the openness of the Green Belt and which do not conflict with the 
purposes of including land in it;

c. the limited extension, alteration, or replacement of an existing dwelling in accordance 
with Policies D/7 and D/8; and

d. limited infilling or redevelopment of major, existing developed sites identified under, 
and in accordance with, Policy D/5.

Proposed development falling within these categories will be acceptable only where it can be 
shown that it would not prejudice, by reason of its scale, siting, or design, the primary 
purposes and visual amenity of the Green Belt.

As such, the main consideration is whether the proposal for consideration constitutes 
inappropriate development in the Green Belt as outlined within the above local policy and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. Paragraph 89 of the NPPF states that a Local Planning 
Authority should regard development within the Green Belt as inappropriate, with the 
exception of, amongst others, the provision of appropriate facilities for outdoor sport, outdoor 
recreation and for cemeteries, as long as it preserves the openness of the Green Belt and 
does not conflict with the purposes of including land within it. Further to this, criterion (b) of 
UDP policy D/4 states that essential facilities for outdoor sport and outdoor recreation which 
preserve the openness of the Green Belt are permissible. 

It is therefore acknowledged that the provision of outdoor spot and recreation facilities can be 
deemed acceptable development within the Green Belt and it is noted that the floodlighting as 
constructed is associated with an equestrian manège. However, the key test is as to whether 
the development is considered appropriate and whether it conflicts with openness of the 
Green Belt, with particular regard to the effect of the proposal on the character and 



appearance of the area including the visual impact of the structures themselves and the 
impact of lighting on the dark sky character.

With regard to the appropriateness of the floodlighting within the Green Belt, a number of 
previous appeal decisions have supported the conclusion that floodlighting is considered to be 
inappropriate, including Ms. R. Stansfield v. Mole Valley District Council (ref. 
APP/C3620/A/09/2100691; Great Bookham Equestrian Centre) and The Taylor Family Trust v. 
the Council of the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead (ref. 
APP/TO355/C/08/2074529; Strande Lane). 

The replacement manège was originally granted approval under application reference 
13/00342/FUL, as it was considered that the facility would not be highly visible from the 
surrounding area and as such would not harm the openness of the Green Belt. However, 
floodlighting is predominantly urban in nature and appearance, a direct contradiction to the 
purpose of including land in the Green Belt. During daylight hours, the lighting poles stand as 
conspicuous and alien features reaching a total height of 8m, on an area of land significantly 
raised above the surroundings. The lighting poles form prominent and incongruous features in 
the surrounding landscape. During hours of darkness, the prominence of the flood lighting is 
heightened by the lamination, which significantly harms the prevailing dark character of the 
night sky in an area where the edge of the Urban Area is clearly defined by the residential 
properties forming the northern edges of Nordale Park and Broad Acre. It is therefore 
considered that the scheme conflicts with the openness and the character of the surrounding 
Green Belt. 

The site is located within open land and benefits from only minimal screening in an elevated 
position above the residential dwellings on Nordale Park. Within the submitted Design and 
Access Statement the applicant has stated that they are willing to propose the planting of trees 
around the outside of the manège, however, no details have been included within the 
submitted application, and regardless of this, it is considered that vegetative screening would 
not adequately screen the development on such an elevated site. Whilst the applicant has 
suggested that the lights would be operational only during the hours of 1500 to 1930 during 
the week, it is considered that this would not be sufficient to mitigate the identified harm to the 
openness of the Green Belt and the intrinsically dark character of the landscape at night.

It is noted that the applicant states that the floodlights provide increased opportunity for horses 
to be exercised during the hours of darkness on winter evenings. However, in the appeal 
decision against a refusal of planning permission for a similar scheme of 8 no. lighting 
columns at a manège located within the Green Belt in Maidenhead (Strande Lane) it was 
established by the Inspector that ‘even during the winter period with the shorter periods of 
daylight, there still remains a considerable portion of the day when horses can be exercised’ 
and it was therefore concluded that ‘floodlights are not an essential facility’ and it is considered 
that suitable alternative arrangements could and would be possible to ensure the adequate 
exercising of horses during daytime hours to negate the need for floodlighting. 

In conclusion, the floodlights comprise inappropriate development in the Green Belt, which is 
harmful by definition. Paragraph 88 of the NPPF is clear that, when considering any planning 
application, local planning authorities should ensure that substantial weight is given to any 
harm to the Green Belt. ‘Very special circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential harm to 
the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly outweighed by 
other considerations. 

The subsequent sections of the report consider whether the floodlights result in any other 
harm. Nevertheless, the applicant has not put forward any very special circumstances to 
outweigh the above identified harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness and 
harm to character and openness, and the scheme therefore conflicts with Unitary 
Development Plan Policy D/4 and the expectations and requirements of the National Planning 



Policy Framework for the protection of Green Belt land and is therefore considered 
unacceptable in principle. 

Design and Appearance

Criteria (a), (g) and (h) of UDP policy BE/2 require proposals to demonstrate good design by:

 ensuring that they are compatible with or improve their surroundings by virtue of their 
scale, density, height, massing, layout, materials, architectural style and detail and 
means of enclosure;

 providing for safe and convenient access and circulation;
 minimising opportunities for crime against people or property.

Paragraph 58 of the NPPF encourages good design by stipulating that planning policies and 
decisions should aim to ensure that developments:

 will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term 
but over the lifetime of the development;

 establish a strong sense of place, using streetscapes and buildings to create attractive 
and comfortable places to live, work and visit; 

 respond to local character and history, and reflect the identity of local surroundings and 
materials, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation; 

 create safe and accessible environments where crime and disorder, and the fear of 
crime, do not undermine quality of life or community cohesion.

The National Planning Practice Guidance states that if development is in or near a protected 
area of dark sky or an intrinsically dark landscape; it may be desirable to minimise new light 
sources. 

The floodlights, by virtue of their height and elevated position, are visible from some distance 
across the surrounding area when not illuminated. The floodlights are mounted on 8m high 
metal poles in an untreated galvanised state, in stark contrast to the predominantly natural 
materials used elsewhere on site, including the low level timber fencing which surrounds the 
manège itself. As such, the structures appear as harsh urban elements against the backdrop 
of the surrounding open land and the nearby farmhouse and barn to detriment of the character 
and appearance of the site and area.

In addition to the above, when the lights are in use the floodlights illuminate the manège and 
its surrounding, which would previously have been characterised by a lack of artificial light. 
The resultant light glow results in a similar effect, with the outcome being a complete change 
in the appearance of the dark sky around the farm. The scheme therefore fails to satisfy the 
requirement for development to retain or enhance the qualities of the landscape, which make 
a material contribution to the character of the area. 

In view of the above, it is considered that the scheme fails to demonstrate good design that is 
compatible with or improve the surroundings and results in significant harm to the character 
and appearance of the area contrary to Unitary Development Plan policy BE/2 and the 
expectations of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Impact upon Neighbouring Uses

The National Planning Practice Guidance states that artificial light provides valuable benefits 
to society, including through extending opportunities for sport and recreation, and can be 
essential to new development. Equally, artificial light is not always necessary, has the potential 
to become ‘light pollution’ or ‘obtrusive light’, can be a source of annoyance to people, harmful 
to wildlife, undermine enjoyment of the countryside or detract from enjoyment of the night sky. 



Policy EM/2 of the Unitary Development Plan states that if the emission of pollutants from a 
proposed development cannot readily be controlled by other environmental legislation, such 
development will not be permitted where it would be likely to result in an increase in air, water, 
noise, light or other pollution, which would be harmful to the environment, and to land uses 
and land users in the area.

Further to this, paragraph 17 of the NPPF, containing the ‘Core Planning Principles’ states that 
planning should always seek to secure high quality design and a good standard of amenity for 
all existing and future occupants of land and buildings. Paragraph 125 of the NPPF also states 
that by encouraging good design, planning policies and decisions should limit the impact of 
light pollution from artificial light on local amenity.

Certain types of development, in this case floodlighting, can give rise to pollution from light 
sources, and this can cause severe problems when they are situated close to housing and 
other uses sensitive to pollution. With floodlighting this pollution primarily takes three forms: 
light spillage (where the light projects beyond the boundary of the property), light glare (the 
uncomfortable brightness of a light source due to the excessive contrast between bright and 
dark areas in the field of view) and light glow (where artificial light scatters through the dust 
and water in the atmosphere causing a glow in the sky and increased light on the ground). 

Whilst it is acknowledged that the minimum distance between the manège and the residential 
properties located on Nordale Park and Broad Acre is approximately 165m, it is noted that the 
floodlights are high intensity and situated on an elevated area of land which stands in a 
prominent location above the houses. The National Planning Practice Guidance states, in 
section 31, that light intrusion occurs when the light spills beyond the boundary of the area 
being lit, which can impair sleeping, cause annoyance to people and affect natural systems. 

The Council’s Environmental Health section has been consulted in order to assess the 
potential impact of light pollution on neighbour amenity. They have raised no objection to the 
scheme on the basis of the submitted lighting reports and layout plans subject to a condition 
restricting hours of operation. As such, there is no light spillage into the curtilage of 
neighbouring properties.

Notwithstanding the above, it is noted that at dusk and during the evenings in winter, the area 
of the illuminated manège and the lights themselves appear harsh against the predominantly 
rural backdrop within an area characterised by its dark sky appearance. The lights are situated 
in an elevated position, facing towards the rear elevations of the properties on Nordale Park, 
Ellis Fold and Broad Acre. As such, it is considered that the effect of the lighting is detrimental 
to the outlook for nearby residents during winter evenings and results in visual intrusion. The 
proposal is therefore considered contrary to policies G/BE/1, BE/2 and NE/6 of the Rochdale 
Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

Landscape and Biodiversity

Section 31 of the National Planning Practice Guidance outlines that where forms of artificial 
light with a potentially high impact on wildlife (e.g. white or ultraviolet light) is proposed close to 
sensitive wildlife receptors or areas, local planning authorities should consider the possible 
ecological impact of the development. Wildlife receptors differ from humans in their sensitivity 
to light and may be adversely affected in a number of ways by artificial light in the 
environment. 

Policy NE/6 of the Unitary Development Plan states that development will be permitted where 
it conserve the physical and cultural attributes of the landscape and contributes, as 
appropriate, to the regeneration, restoration, enhancement or maintenance of the landscape 
likely to be affected. As discussed above, it is considered that the floodlights represent 



incongruous features within the landscape and stand as contrary to the general tranquil, often 
bleak, isolated and dark character of the enclosed upland area. 

The Rochdale Biodiversity and Development Supplementary Planning Document, adopted in 
2008, acknowledges the contribution that biodiversity makes to sustainable development and 
states that biodiversity surrounds us in our daily lives and human activity in both urban and 
rural areas can affect the well-being, distribution and numbers of species. Effects can be both 
direct and indirect. Some of the principal negative effects which development and use of land 
can have on biodiversity include pollution (air, water, noise and light). 

As such, application schemes should consider the effects of artificial lighting and spot flood 
lighting which can affect bats and night feeding birds, especially within rural areas such as the 
application site in question. Although no ecological survey was submitted with the application, 
the Greater Manchester Ecology Unit have been consulted and given that they have raised no 
objection to the proposal, with the exception of requesting a condition restricting operating 
hours should permission be granted, it is not considered that a refusal on the grounds of the 
potential for impact on ecology would be sustainable.

Conclusion

The proposal comprises inappropriate development in the Green Belt, which is, by definition, 
harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special circumstances. 
Substantial weight must be attached to that harm and any other harm that would arise. The 
lighting columns and lighting detract from the character and openness of the Green Belt and 
the area. Furthermore, in the hours of darkness, the lighting is visually intrusive and harms the 
outlook enjoyed by the occupants of nearby properties. No very special circumstances have 
been presented that would outweigh the harm identified and as such, the application is 
therefore contrary to Rochdale Unitary Development Plan policies D/4, BE/2 and NE/6 along 
with the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework.

RECOMMENDATION

REFUSE for the following reasons: -

Reason:

 1 The proposal forms an incongruous and alien feature in the landscape, both during the 
day when the lighting columns themselves are visible and during hours of darkness when the 
lighting results in unacceptable levels of illumination within an area characterised as an 
intrinsically dark landscape. The scheme therefore fails to demonstrate good design by 
ensuring it is compatible with or improves the surroundings or retains and enhances the views 
or landscape features which characterise the area, contrary to policies BE/2 and NE/6 of the 
Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

 2 The proposal comprises inappropriate development in the Green Belt, which is, by 
definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special 
circumstances. Furthermore, the lighting columns and lighting detract from the character and 
openness of the Green Belt and the area. The applicant has failed to demonstrate very special 
circumstances to outweigh the harm identified and as such, the proposal is therefore 
considered contrary to policies D/4 and NE/6 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and 
the National Planning Policy Framework.

 3 The proposal, by virtue of its elevated position and the intensity of artificial light against 
an intrinsically dark landscape in the hours of darkness, results in a visually intrusive form of 
development that unduly harms the outlook of the occupants of nearby residential properties 
to the detriment of their amenity. The proposal is therefore considered contrary to policies 



NE/6, G/BE/1 and BE/2 of the Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

Report Author David Allen



Application Number: 15/01421/FUL    Ward: Castleton      

Proposal: Erection of external loading canopy on Smalley Street elevation

Site Address: Woolworths Plc Royle Barn Road Rochdale OL11 3DU 

Applicant: Mr Zulfikar Majid
                  

RECOMMENDATION: Grant subject to conditions



DELEGATION SCHEME

The application has been reported to the Rochdale Township Planning Sub Committee as four 
or more objections have been received. The sub-committee has delegated authority to 
determine the application.

SITE

The application relates to a circa 7.5 hectare area of land comprising the site of the former 
Woolworths headquarters and distribution depot off Royle Barn Road, Castleton. The site falls 
within a Primary Employment Zone as defined on the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan 
(UDP) Proposals Map and the application relates specifically to the large warehouse building. 

The existing warehouse building has a floor area of approximately 24,000m².  Permission was 
granted in September 2015 to raise the height of the building and to re-clad the roof and 
elevations and these works have now commenced on site.

Adjoining the northern end of the application building is a leisure use known as the Soccer 
Factory and to the north west of the site, on the opposite side of Royle Barn Road, and to the 
north east, on the opposite side of Gypsy Lane, are industrial and warehouse premises.  The 
south east boundary of the site adjoins the Manchester to Leeds railway line as well as a 
builder’s merchants adjacent to Castleton railway station.  On the opposite side of the railway 
line are further business premises, some of which are within the Castleton South Conservation 
Area.  At the nearest point the Conservation Area is 150m from the application building.  

The south west boundary of the site adjoins the rear elevations of properties on Smalley 
Street, on which the backs of terraced dwellings face onto the site for around half of its length.  
The site boundary to the rear of these dwellings is marked by a brick wall, which would 
previously have been the wall of a large warehouse building (the roof of which was 
subsequently removed) and this was last used as an open storage/parking area.  

PROPOSAL

Planning permission is sought for the erection of a replacement external canopy over the 
loading doors on the south-western elevation of the existing building.  The proposed canopy 
would be constructed of corrugated metal cladding, colour coated silver to the elevations and 
grey to the roof.  The canopy would measure 60 metres in length, 20 metres in width and 7.7 
metres in maximum height.

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

National Guidance

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

The Department for Communities and Local Government published the NPPF on 27 March 
2012.  The NPPF set out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these are 
expected to be applied.  

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

The government published its NPPG on 6 March 2014. This is intended to complement the 
NPPF and to provide a single resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and 
streamlining the material. Almost all previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been 
cancelled. Specific reference will be made to the NPPG or other national advice in the 
Analysis section of the report, where appropriate.



Unitary Development Plan (UDP): 

G/D/1              Defined Urban Area

G/EC/1 Employment Land Supply
EC/2 Primary Employment Zones

G/BE/1            Design Quality
BE/2                Design Criteria for New Development

G/BE/9 Conservation of the Built Environment 
BE/17 New Development Affecting Conservation Areas 

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

15/01382/ANM - Application for non-material amendment to planning permission 
15/00777/FUL for installation of facing brickwork to external walls and reduction in number and 
repositioning of loading doors on Smalley Street elevation – Approved.

15/01381/DOC - Submission of details to comply with condition 3 (materials) of planning 
permission 15/00777/FUL – Approved.

15/00777/FUL - Re-cladding and re-roofing of existing unit including an increase in roof height 
– Approved.

13/00443 - Application to remove condition 12 of planning permission D53889 (Outline 
Application Including Access and Scale for Mixed Use Development For A1 (Shops), A2 
(Financial And Professional Services), A3 (Restaurants And Cafes), A4 (Drinking 
Establishments), A5 (Hot Food Takeaway), B1 (Business), B2 (General Industrial), B8 
(Storage And Distribution),  C3 (Dwellinghouses) And D1 (Non-Residential Institutions)) in 
order to allow retention of existing 6953 square metre warehouse to northern end of site for 
B1/B2/B8 purposes – Approved

13/00442 – Change of use of building from storage and distribution (use class B8) to leisure 
(use class D2) – Approved

10/D53889 – Outline application (including access and scale) for mixed use development for 
A1 (shops), A2 (financial and professional services), A3 (restaurants and cafes), A4 (drinking 
establishments), A5 (hot food takeaway), B1 (business), B2 (general industrial), B8 (storage 
and distribution), C3 (dwellinghouses) and D1 (non-residential institutions) – Approved.

10/D53466 – Screening opinion in respect of mixed use redevelopment of former Woolworths 
site – Approved.

10/D52870 – Change of use of units K & L from warehouse to indoor sports facility – 
Approved. 

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Public Protection (Noise) – No objection. The application is for replacement of an existing 
canopy.  The Public Protection Service does not have any active complaints regarding noise 
and/or light nuisance and as such we have no objection to the proposal.
 



REPRESENTATIONS

Letters of notification were sent to surrounding neighbours and a site notice was displayed in 
the vicinity of the site.  Objections have been received from 5 neighbouring properties on 
Smalley Street, as summarised below with officer responses:

 Lack of clear information provided to understand the proposal.

Officer response – although the plans originally submitted were considered to 
adequately detail the proposed development, the location plan has been amended to 
also show the position of the proposed canopy and this has been communicated to the 
relevant residents.

 Loss of light to rear of house when the height of the wall has just been reduced.

Officer response – the proposed canopy would be sited over 130 metres away from 
the rear elevations of the nearest properties on Smalley Street and it is not considered 
that any loss of light will result.

 The canopy will be an eyesore to residents on Smalley Street.

Officer response – the proposed canopy will be visible from the first floor windows of 
the properties on Smalley Street at a distance of over 130 metres.  It will, however, be 
viewed against the backdrop of the existing building and constructed of the same 
corrugated cladding.  The structure is considered appropriate to its setting and will not 
be a prominent feature in the context of the existing building.

 Object to the use of the area as a loading bay as it will cause excessive noise and light 
disturbance.  A bund should be created to shield residents.

Officer response – the application seeks permission for an external loading canopy 
only, and as such the proposal would not result in any additional noise or light impacts 
upon neighbouring uses than the existing building and site.

 The canopy has already been erected.

Officer response – this was not the case at the time of writing this report.

ANALYSIS

Principle of Development 

The NPPF establishes a presumption in favour of sustainable development and Paragraph 14 
of the NPPF states that for decision-taking, the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development means approving development proposals that accord with the development plan 
without delay. 

As noted above, the site is located within a mixed employment zone and UDP Policy EC/3 lists 
the types of development that are acceptable within such areas.  

Two of the 12 core planning principles in the NPPF state that planning should support existing 
business sectors and proactively drive and support sustainable economic development to 
deliver the homes, business and industrial units that the country needs.  Paragraph 18 of the 
NPPF affirms that the Government is committed to securing economic growth in order to 
create jobs and prosperity and paragraph 19 of states that “Planning should operate to 



encourage and not act as an impediment to sustainable growth. Therefore significant weight 
should be placed on the need to support economic growth through the planning system.” 

The application proposes the addition of an external loading canopy on the building and is 
therefore in accordance with Policy EC/3 and the NPPF in principle.  

Design, appearance and impact upon Conservation Area

Criterion (a) of UDP policy BE/2 requires development proposals to demonstrate good design 
by ensuring that they are compatible with or improve their surroundings by virtue of their scale, 
density, height, massing, layout, materials, architectural style and detail and means of 
enclosure.  

Paragraph 58 of the NPPF states that development should respond to local character and 
reflect the identity of local surroundings and materials, while not preventing or discouraging 
appropriate innovation.

The site is surrounded by similar industrial buildings and the proposed canopy would be in 
keeping with the existing building and the neighbouring industrial buildings in terms of scale, 
design and materials.  Although the proposed canopy will be visible from public viewpoints on 
Royle Barn Road, it is considered appropriate to its setting and will not be an overly prominent 
feature in the context of the existing building.  It is therefore considered that the proposal 
complies with policy BE/2 and the NPPF. 

In terms of conservation, UDP Policy BE/17 only permits development that preserves or 
enhances the character and appearance of the conservation area.  

Paragraph 131 of the NPPF states that, in determining planning applications, local planning 
authorities should take account of:

a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and 
putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;

b) the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to sustainable 
communities including their economic vitality; and

c) the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character 
and distinctiveness.

The application building is some 150m from the Castleton Conservation Area and the 
application site is not visible from public vantage points within the Conservation Area. With this 
in mind, it is considered that the proposal would have no impact on the conservation area in 
accordance with UDP Policy BE/17 and the NPPF.  

Impact upon neighbouring uses

One of the 12 core principles of the NPPF seeks to ensure that a good standard of amenity for 
all existing and future occupants of land and buildings. Criterion (i) of UDP policy BE/2 
requires development proposals to ensure good design by making adequate provision for 
natural light within and between buildings.

The surrounding area is a mixture of both commercial and residential uses, with the nearest 
residential dwellings situated to the south of the site on Smalley Street.  The proposed canopy 
would be sited over 130 metres from the rear elevations of the properties on Smalley Street 
and no loss of light will occur given this intervening distance. 

The proposed canopy would not result in a material change in the nature of the use as 
vehicular activity occurs in this part of the site at present. The existing small canopy would be 
removed and replaced with a larger canopy to provide the HGV loading bays with cover from 



the elements. Whilst the proposed canopy will be visible from the first floor windows of the 
properties on Smalley Street, it will be viewed against the backdrop of the existing building and 
constructed of the same corrugated cladding.  The canopy is considered to be appropriate to 
its setting and will not be an overly prominent feature in the context of the existing building. It 
is therefore considered that the proposed canopy will not have a detrimental impact upon the 
amenity of the neighbouring residents in terms of overshadowing, loss of daylight or outlook. 
In addition, 

Conclusion

The proposal is considered to be acceptable in respect of its design in the context of the site 
and would have no impact on the amenity of the occupants of nearby properties. The proposal 
therefore complies with the development plan and the National Planning Policy Framework 
and is therefore recommended for approval. 

 RECOMMENDATION

GRANT subject to the following conditions:-

 1 The development must be begun not later than three years beginning with the date of 
this permission.

Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 (as amended).

 2 This permission relates to the following plans:- 

Site Location Plan June15 Scale 1:1750@A3;
Proposed Canopy Plan PPC106_14

and the development shall be carried out in complete accordance with these drawings 
hereby approved.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 
development in accordance with the policies contained within the adopted Rochdale 
Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

 3 The development shall be completed using the following external materials:

- Elevations - C1000 corrugated sheet cladding in RAL 9006 Metallic Silver;
- Roof - R1000 corrugated sheet cladding in Goosewing Grey

unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.

Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity 
in accordance with Policy BE/2 of the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan 
and the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework.

Reason:

Report Author Alison Truman


	Agenda
	1 Declarations of Interest
	Summary OF interests

	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	3 Submitted Planning Applications

